Northern Michigan University Ripley Heating Plant

RESPONSE TO COMMENTS DOCUMENT

May 12, 2008

PERMIT No. 60-07



Jennifer M. Granholm, Governor Steven E. Chester, Director

Air Quality Division Michigan Department of Environmental Quality

INTERNET: http://www.michigan.gov/deq

G. Vinson Hellwig, Chief Air Quality Division Constitution Hall, 3rd Floor 525 West Allegan Street P.O. Box 30260 Lansing, Michigan 48909-7760

Phone: (517) 373-7023 Fax: (517) 373-1265

Exhibit 6

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 1 of 32 May 12, 2008

Table of Contents

Section	Page
I. Public Participation Process	2
II. Summary of Comments Resulting in Changes to the Permit	3
III. Summary of Significant Comments	6
A. Public Health and Environment Concerns	6
B. Air Toxics and Risk Assessment	9
C. Emergencies and Safety Concerns	10
D. Dispersion Modeling	12
E. Best Available Control Technology Review	15
F. Permit Requirements, General	23
G. Permit Requirements, Emissions	24
H. Permit Requirements, Monitoring	26
I. Permit Requirements, Process/Operational Limits	26
J. Permit Review Process	28
K. Miscellaneous	28
IV. Summary of Comments Received in Support	32

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 2 of 32 May 12, 2008

I. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION PROCESS

Northern Michigan University's Permit to Install application No. 60-07 is for installation and operation of a wood and coal fired circulating fluidized bed (CFB) boiler to provide heat and electricity and is proposed for location at Wright Street and Sugarloaf Avenue (1401 Presque Isle Avenue mailing address), Marquette, Michigan. The public participation process involved providing information for public review including a fact sheet, a background information document and proposed permit terms and conditions, a public comment period, an informational meeting and public hearing, and the receipt of written and verbal public comments on staff's analysis of the application and the proposed permit.

On October 19, 2007, copies of the Notice of Air Pollution Comment Period and Public Hearing, the Fact Sheet, and the draft terms and conditions were placed on the Internet at the Department of Environmental Quality (Department), Air Quality Division's (AQD) Home Page (http://www.michigan.gov/deq). In addition, a notice announcing the Public Comment Period, Public Informational Meeting, and Public Hearing was placed in the *Marquette Mining Journal*. The notice provided pertinent information regarding the proposed action; the locations of available information; a telephone number to request additional information; the date, time, and location of the Public Informational Meeting and Public Hearing; the closing date of the Public Comment Period; and the address where written comments were being received. The background information document was made available for discussion at the informational meeting before the public hearing.

The Informational Meeting was held immediately before the Public Hearing on November 27, 2007. A panel of representatives of the State's Air Quality Division was available to answer questions regarding the proposed project. The meeting began at 6:30 p.m. and concluded at approximately 7:15 p.m.

The Public Hearing was held on November 27, 2007, at the Marquette City Hall, City Commission Chambers, 300 West Baraga Avenue, Marquette, Michigan. The hearing began at 7:30 p.m. with Mark Feldhauser as the Hearings Officer and William Presson as the representative for Vinson Hellwig, the decision maker. Only comments on the proposed permit action were received. In addition, staff of the Air Quality Division was available outside the meeting room to answer any questions. Approximately 32 people were in attendance at the Public Hearing with 17 providing oral comments. The Public Hearing concluded at 8:27 p.m. In response to a request, the public comment period was extended for an additional 30 days and ended on December 27, 2007.

A total of 13 written comments were received during the Public Comment Period and the hearing.

The remainder of this document is a summary of the significant comments received during the public comment period and hearing regarding the proposed permit and the Department's response. Each individual comment is not listed separately. However, all significant comments are addressed. The first section discusses the comments received that resulted in changes to the final permit terms and conditions and the basis for each change. The second section discusses the Department's response to all other significant comments that did not result in changes to the final permit.

This Response to Comments document fulfills the requirements specified in 40 CFR 124.17.

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 3 of 32 May 12, 2008

II. SUMMARY OF COMMENTS RESULTING IN CHANGES TO THE PERMIT

II.1 Comment

The permit lacks limits for PM-2.5, a regulated air pollutant.

AQD Response

Although EPA guidance recommends the use of PM-10 as a surrogate for PM-2.5 because there is presently no approved method to measure PM-2.5, AQD agrees that it is appropriate to include limits on PM-2.5 emissions in the permit.

Condition Change

Special Conditions 1.1bb and 1.1cc have been added to include emission limits for PM-2.5. The following footnote has been added to the emission limits table to explain the basis for the PM-2.5 limits:

PM-2.5 is established using PM-10 as a surrogate per the U.S. EPA Memorandum from John S. Seitz, Director Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards to Regional Air Directors, *Interim Implementation of New Source Review Requirements for PM2.5* (October 23, 1997)

Special Conditions 1.9 (testing) and 1.10 (monitoring) have been modified to include references to the new emission limits.

II.2 Comment

In the emission limit table, the listing of "Test Protocol" as the time period for the limits in units of "tons per year" implies a test period of one year.

AQD Response

The intent was to utilize the test results (in units of lb/MMBtu heat input) in combination with the monthly fuel usage data to calculate the emissions for the most recent 12 month period.

Condition Change

Special Conditions 1.1c, 1.1f, 1.1h, and 1.1j have been corrected and a footnote has been added to the emission limit table to clarify the calculation method for compliance with the annual emission limits. The footnote follows:

compliance with the tpy limit will be determined by calculating the emission rate using the stack test results expressed in lb/MMBtu heat input and the 12-month heat input for each fuel based on monthly fuel usage records.

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 4 of 32 May 12, 2008

II.3 Comment

It appears that storage piles of wood or coal fuel may be allowed. This could potentially cause problems for the neighbors such as dust from the coal or odors from a wet pile of wood.

AQD Response

Northern Michigan University described the fuel delivery and storage process in the permit application. Fuel will be delivered to protected areas enclosed on three sides and transferred from there to storage silos. There is no plan to have storage piles at the site.

Condition Change

Special Condition 3.1 has been changed and Special Condition 3.2 has been added to make the fuel transfer plan a part of the permit:

- 3.1 The permittee shall install, operate, and maintain an enclosure around the wood and coal unloading and storage areas and shall utilize procedures to minimize the generation and transport of fugitive emissions from this operation.
- 3.2 The permittee shall not stockpile wood or coal on site outside of the fuel silos. Use of an unloading area to facilitate the unloading and transfer of wood or coal to the fuel silos is considered to be normal operation.

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 5 of 32 May 12, 2008

II.4 Comment

There was an incorrect analysis of the maximum potential hazardous air pollutant (HAP) emissions. The entire University should have been included as the source.

AQD Response

At AQD's request, Northern Michigan University re-evaluated the estimated HAP emissions for the proposed CFB boiler, the existing boilers. While reviewing the potential HAP emissions for the proposed solid fuel fired boiler, it was determined that the total HAP emissions were over estimated in the permit application. The combined maximum potential emission of each HAP for each fuel type was used as the estimated total emission level without regard to the amount of each fuel that might be burned on an annual basis. That is, the potential HAP emissions from firing 100% coal were added to the potential HAP emissions from firing 100% wood in the proposed CFB boiler.

The actual maximum potential HAPs would occur with 100% wood firing, which would be 14.55 tons per year. Any reduction in wood usage, with a corresponding increase in another fuel, would reduce the total HAPs because each of the other fuels have a total HAP (on a pound per million Btu basis) that is substantially lower than that for wood.

Northern Michigan University provided new data concerning other sources of HAPs to include the entire University as the source. The existing Ripley Heating Plant, 34 miscellaneous boilers, and 12 emergency generators were included in this additional inventory. Potential HAP emissions from these sources were calculated to be 4.40 tons per year. The total HAP emissions estimate, including the equipment not inventoried in the original permit application is 18.95 tons per year. The University is not a major source for HAPs.

Condition Change

The following enforceable conditions were added to the permit to limit HAP emissions:

Emission Limits

	Pollutant	Limit	Time Period	Equipment	Testing/ Monitoring Method	Applicable Requirement s
9.4a	Each Individual HAP	Less than 9.9 tpy *	12-month rolling time period as determined at the end of each calendar month	FGFACILITY	SC 9.5	R 336.1205(1)
9.4b	Aggregate HAPs	Less than 24.9 tpy *	12-month rolling time period as determined at the end of each calendar month	FGFACILITY	SC 9.5	R 336.1205(1)

^{*} Beginning on startup of EU-CFB-BOILER, and continuing for the first 12 calendar months, this limit applies to the cumulative total HAP emissions. Thereafter, the limit shall become a 12-month rolling limit.

9.5 The permittee shall keep records for FGFACILITY of individual and aggregate HAP emission calculations determining the monthly emission rate of each in tons per calendar month.

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 6 of 32 May 12, 2008

III. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT COMMENTS

A. Public Health and Environment Concerns

A.1 Comment

A comment asked that the health of the people of Michigan be considered first, for both the present population and to consider how pollution levels may affect people in the future.

AQD Response

The Federal Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 and the State of Michigan Air Pollution Control Rules both contain laws that are in place to protect public health and the environment. The AQD reviews all sources of air contaminant emissions to make sure that these laws are met. Staff reviews emission estimates and all supporting documentation for accuracy during technical review of the permit application and determines if the emissions are environmentally acceptable. Finally, a Permit to Install is developed to ensure continuous compliance with all applicable state and federal air quality regulations.

A primary function of the AQD is to protect the health and welfare of all citizens of the State of Michigan. To accomplish this, the AQD utilizes the state and federal air quality rules and regulations that are in place to protect public health and the environment. The federal Clean Air Act includes the National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS) to protect public health. These standards define the maximum concentration of certain air emissions in the breathing zone that would protect the health of the most sensitive individuals, including those with heart, respiratory, neurological and asthma problems. The emissions from the proposed facility were evaluated and compared to the standards. The AQD concludes that the emissions will comply with all applicable federal air quality requirements and with all Michigan Department of Environmental Quality, Air Quality Division regulations.

In addition, chemicals that do not have an established NAAQS must meet the applicable AQD established health-based screening levels. Screening levels are developed to protect the public from cancer and non-cancer effects based on toxicological research. The best available information is used to establish safe exposure levels and exposure times that are protective against cancer and non-cancer health effects. Harmful health effects are not anticipated to occur over a lifetime of exposure for any pollutant concentrations that are below these health criteria. The emissions from the facility were modeled to determine impacts and were then compared to the applicable screening levels. Impacts from all emissions are well below the applicable health-based screening levels.

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 7 of 32 May 12, 2008

A.2 Comment

Did the permit review consider secondary impacts to plants, wildlife and the environment? Note: Secondary impacts are also addressed in responses to Comments D.2 and K.4.

AQD Response

There are two types of federal air quality standards. The primary standard is designed to protect the health of the most susceptible individuals in a population, including the children, elderly and those with chronic respiratory ailments. The secondary standard is designed to protect public health and welfare and ensure quality of life. The function of the secondary standard is to limit economic damage as well as destruction to buildings, plants and animals. The proposed emission limits are placed into a computer model to determine the ambient air concentrations and ground-level impacts for substances expected to be emitted from an emission source. In order for a facility to receive an air permit, these concentrations must fall below the federal NAAQS and the AQD's health-based screening levels. With concentrations below these health criteria, harmful health effects are not reasonably anticipated to occur over a lifetime of exposure. The emissions and impacts from the facility are well below these applicable health-based criteria.

Impacts of criteria pollutants below the national standards will not typically result in harmful effects to soils, vegetation and wildlife. It is highly unlikely that pollutant concentrations that are in compliance with the NAAQS will have significant effect on these parameters. The AQD compared the maximum facility impacts to EPA criteria for the impacts of air pollution sources on plants, soils and animals. The results indicate that the level of emissions associated with the facility is not expected to have any measurable effects on soils, vegetation and wildlife.

The NAAQS were established by the EPA to protect public health with an adequate margin of safety. These standards must protect the most sensitive individuals so they are set at the lowest level of observed effects from laboratory studies. All permits contain language that prohibits emitting air contaminants in quantities that cause injurious effects to human health or safety, animal life, plant life of significant economic value, or property. Thus an effect on public health and property from the facility is a violation of the permit. EPA provides the State authority to pursue civil penalties for such violations.

A.3 Comment

MDEQ should deal with the cumulative impact of these individual sources of environmental hazard and degradation within the Lake Superior basin.

AQD Response

The proposed facility is subject to the federal Prevention of Significant Deterioration (PSD) Regulations. The goal of the PSD program is to allow for economic growth while preserving air quality levels below the federally mandated standards (NAAQS). The regulations allow for a limited increase of sulfur dioxide, particulates and nitrogen oxide concentrations in ambient air without exceeding the national health standards. These amounts are called increments. Increment thresholds are derived at levels small enough to allow industrial growth while ensuring the NAAQS will not be exceeded. To maintain the potential for economic expansion in any area, it

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 8 of 32 May 12, 2008

has been the AQD's policy that one facility cannot exceed 80 percent of the available increment. The PSD regulations also require an air quality analysis where modeled concentrations from the facility are combined with other area pollution sources plus actual monitored background data. This cumulative concentration must be less than the NAAQS. The emissions inventory used for NAAQS and PSD Increment analyses includes actual and permitted sources which have a significant influence within the facility's significant impact zone. Typically, only sources within 20 kilometers are close enough to significantly impact proposed sources of this size. Non-permitted sources are not considered because they cannot legally emit. The modeling results from the facility, including other sources and background data, are well below the applicable increment and NAAQS thresholds.

A.4 Comment

The facility will release considerable amounts of carbon dioxide and nitrous oxide and contribute to global warming.

Note: Greenhouse gas emissions are also addressed in responses to Comments E.7 and K.2.

AQD Response

There are no federal or state rules requiring limits on carbon dioxide or nitrous oxide emissions from electric generating units.

U. S. EPA has not promulgated national regulations limiting emissions of carbon dioxide (CO_2) or nitrous oxide (N_2O) as regulated pollutants under the Clean Air Act. Limits for either of these gases have not been established pursuant to the State of Michigan Air Pollution Control Rules. The air permit is a tool to provide enforceable limits for a specific facility to ensure that operation of the equipment covered by the permit will comply with all applicable federal air quality requirements and with all Michigan Department of Environmental Quality, Air Quality Division regulations. Emissions of CO_2 and N_2O were not evaluated or limited in the permit.

Carbon monoxide (CO) is regulated under the Clean Air Act and therefore was evaluated during the permit review process. Dispersion modeling shows maximum carbon monoxide impacts well below the applicable standard. Emissions below the NAAQS are not anticipated to cause negative effects on public health and the environment.

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 9 of 32 May 12, 2008

B. Air Toxics and Risk Assessment

B.1 Comment

AQD should evaluate the cumulative effect over time for impacts from the facility to the entire Lake Superior Basin. The multimedia risk assessment should look at all of the sources of contaminants before a decision is made.

AQD Response

The risk assessment approach was sufficiently detailed and conservative to describe potential risks from the facility. In the screening approach used, the facility emissions were assumed to occur at maximum permitted rates and people were assumed to be exposed by breathing the ambient air continuously for a 70-year lifetime at the point of maximum impact. The potential exposures and risks at the point of maximum impact were characterized, rather than the lesser impacts at other locations. The risk assessment approach followed USEPA guidance for performing risk analyses for the purpose of characterizing the potential high-end risk estimates. Available data on mercury levels in fish from area lakes were considered in the context of the incremental impact from the proposed facility's emissions.

The assessment of cancer risks posed by the facility's emissions followed the established procedure in the DEQ-AQD air toxics rules. Under those rules, the acceptability of cancer risks is based on the *incremental* risk posed on a *chemical-by-chemical* basis, without accounting for background exposures to carcinogens. There is no ambient air standard for acceptable *cumulative* cancer risk.

B.2 Comment

Has any consideration been given to the pollution's impact on food chain, agriculture crops, and livestock?

AQD Response

Yes. As part of the air toxics evaluation, consideration is given as to how detailed a health-based risk assessment will be conducted to adequately address concerns with proposed emissions. Point-source air emissions of some substances, particularly mercury, can pose a concern when they deposit to ground and surface waters. This can result in non-inhalation pathways of public exposure such as eating fish.

Mercury— The maximum allowed mercury emission rate (estimated 5.4 pounds per year) was evaluated by an AQD toxicologist. The methylation of mercury occurs in wetland soils and in water bodies and methyl mercury can accumulate in the tissue of fish. An exposure pathway of concern would be adults or children living in the area eating fish caught in the area. In order to determine if this could present a health problem, an assessment was conducted to see if there were any water bodies within a 6 mile (10 kilometers) radius from the facility where fishing could occur. The assessment of mercury impacts focused on the Forestville Basin of the Dead River, 0.75 km NW of the facility. The assessment was conducted using a computer modeling program to estimate mercury impacts to fish mercury levels and to recreational anglers who may eat the fish. This is the predominant indirect exposure pathway for mercury air emissions. The assessment found that the impacts would be minimal, and do not raise significant concerns.

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 10 of 32 May 12, 2008

C. <u>Emergencies and Safety Concerns</u>

C.1 Comment

Who should I contact to report a pollution emergency?

AQD Response

In addition to your local police and fire departments, you may call the Pollution Emergency Alert System (PEAS) at 1-800-292-4706. This telephone number is operated by MDEQ and is staffed 24 hours per day. Information received by the PEAS operator is quickly forwarded to the appropriate agencies.

C.2 Comment

What types of accidental releases does the air-use permit address?

AQD Response

A facility is required to comply with all permit conditions, including emission limits, at all times. General Condition No. 7 requires the facility to notify the District Supervisor, AQD, of abnormal conditions or malfunctions resulting in certain types of emissions in excess of a standard or limitation lasting more than one hour. This condition places a responsibility on the facility to investigate and self-report malfunctions that cause excess emissions. Specifically, the facility is required to give the AQD a written summary of the actions taken to correct and prevent recurring malfunctions. These actions become a part of the facility's preventive maintenance and malfunction abatement plan.

C.3 Comment

What is the emergency response plan if there is an accident with the ammonia that is to be used for nitrogen oxides reduction?

AQD Response

The facility may use either ammonia or urea for this air pollution control system. If ammonia is selected, the ammonia will be properly handled and stored. AQD has the authority to handle air quality issues and can only require the facility to address any excess in emissions that could result from a malfunction of the process. The Local Emergency Planning Commission, the HAZMAT team and the local fire department are available for other emergency concerns.

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 11 of 32 May 12, 2008

C.4 Comment

What are the requirements for evacuation if there is an ammonia release?

AQD Response

The dilute solution of aqueous ammonia used in a selective non-catalytic reduction system for control of oxides of nitrogen is not listed in the Clean Air Act as a substance reasonably expected to cause death, injury, or serious adverse effects to human health or the environment if accidentally released. Therefore, there are no air regulations which apply to the storage of this type of ammonia. The ammonia storage tank will have the necessary secondary containment measures (dikes, valved drains, etc) to prevent exposure to soil and groundwater. Local services are available for other emergency concerns.

C.5 Comment

What is being done to address accidental releases?

AQD Response

The federal Clean Air Act requires that many facilities file risk management plans (RMPs) with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) and work with the local emergency planning committee to ensure response plans are in place in the event of an emergency. Local governments and local emergency response entities, such as fire and police departments, have primary responsibility for first response during emergencies. MDEQ works with the primary responders in a support role during emergencies. The applicant has developed an emergency preparedness plan with local officials, which must be continuously maintained and updated annually, and has a RMP on file with the U.S. EPA.

Air-use permits ensure that worst-case air emissions from process operations meet the appropriate air pollution control requirements and health protective limits. AQD's primary responsibility is to ensure that a facility complies with all applicable control technology and health standards. Permit conditions require that a facility properly install, operate, and maintain production and control equipment and require monitoring and recordkeeping of critical parameters to ensure that proper equipment operation is maintained. Also, permit conditions require the installation of specific safety devices and require the periodic inspection of equipment for wear and deterioration. Once a permit has been issued, AQD makes periodic inspections and/or requires periodic stack testing to determine whether or not the facility is operating in compliance with its airuse permit. The permit conditions for this specific modified process include various monitoring, recordkeeping, reporting, and equipment/operational requirements in order to ensure compliance with emission limits. When violations are found, AQD takes enforcement action and makes certain they are addressed and corrections made promptly.

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 12 of 32 May 12, 2008

D. <u>Dispersion Modeling</u>

D.1 Comment

Has the AQD taken into account the several other plants that are proposed to be located in this county and surrounding areas and the affect the existing facilities and all the proposed plants together will have on the air quality? Is there a limit as to the amount of such facilities within an area?

AQD Response

Part of the modeling review includes looking at impacts from existing nearby sources and monitored background data. The background data is obtained from the nearest air monitor and is considered representative of the area. Each year the background monitor data is updated so it will include existing sources in the area. The AQD can only review emissions from those facilities that are allowed to operate under an approved permit to install or existed prior to the state permitting program. The modeling can not include any new facility that does not have a permit to install and, therefore, cannot legally emit pollutants to the atmosphere. If a facility submits an application for a permit to install for location in the area, the impacts from the proposed facility plus the background concentrations and any other facility that has a permit approved by the AQD will be analyzed for compliance with the NAAQS and PSD increment.

D.2 Comment

MDEQ has not provided sufficient analysis of the impacts from the proposed plant. Additionally the applicant must provide an analysis of impacts of the proposed plant on soils and vegetation, as well as commercial and industrial growth associated with the proposed modification. We note that there is no such information for this source, especially as to the impacts of the fuel acquisition, including impacts on endangered species. Class I impacts were not properly noticed to the federal land manager or the public.

Note: Secondary impacts are also addressed in responses to Comments A.2 and K.4.

AQD Response

Section 7 of the air use permit application submitted to the AQD dated February 5, 2007 by the Consultants (NTH) addresses secondary impacts from the project related to the four categories of 1) Associated Growth, 2) Soils, vegetation, and wildlife, 3) Visibility Impairment, and 4) Threatened and Endangered Species

- Associated Growth NMU will be receiving solid fuels for the new boiler via 40 ton trucks, delivered approximately once per day during the week, using established transportation routes currently used by logging trucks. The conclusion is that truck traffic will not increase significantly.
- 2) Soils, Vegetation, and Wildlife Impacts of criteria pollutants below the National Ambient Air Quality Standards will not typically result in harmful effects to soils, vegetation and wildlife. It is highly unlikely that pollutant concentrations that are in compliance with the NAAQS will have significant effect on these parameters. The AQD

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 13 of 32 May 12, 2008

compared the maximum facility impacts to EPA criteria for the impacts of air pollution sources on plants, soils and animals. The results indicate that the level of emissions associated with the facility is not expected to have any measurable effects on soils, vegetation and wildlife.

- 3) Visibility A quantitative analysis for impacts of fogging and icing from the proposed 7 MW cooling tower was performed using the Seasonal/Annual Cooling Tower Impact (SACTI) model. The analysis confirmed that excessive impairment to the surrounding community as a result of fogging and icing is not expected.
- 4) Threatened and Endangered Species Requests for review by the State of Michigan MDNR Wildlife Division and by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service produced determinations that no impact is expected from the proposed project.

Additionally, the AQD conducted its own Class I visibility analysis for the States two Class 1 areas, Isle Royale and the Seney Wildlife Refuge using the CALPUFF model which is currently the "preferred regulatory model" recommended by EPA for evaluating long range impacts. The results predicted that there would be 2 days over 3 years at Isle Royale that would experience a change in the light extinction coefficient of slightly over 5%.

These results were forwarded to the Isle Royale Park Superintendent by email on May 4, 2007. This notification was completed in accordance with the terms and conditions of the September 28, 1988 letter from Vladas V. Adamkus, Regional Administrator, U.S. EPA to Robert P. Miller, Chief, Air Quality Division, Michigan Department of Natural Resources amending the U.S. EPA's delegation of authority to the State of Michigan to implement the prevention of significant deterioration (PSD) program.

Also, in April, 2008, AQD contacted the National Park Service regional Chief of the Planning and Permit Review Branch, John Bunyak regarding Isle Royale and the Fish & Wildlife Service, Air Quality Branch, Sandra Silva, Chief, regarding Seney Wilderness. Replies from both agencies indicated that "based on the emissions quoted in your message and the distance to the Class I area, we do not expect adverse impact to visibility or air quality related values" at Isle Royale National Park or Seney National Wildlife Refuge.

Additionally, the April 18, 2008 U.S. EPA approval of the Forest County Potawatomi Community's request for redesignation of parts of the tribe's reservation as a Clean Air Act Class I area has been considered by the AQD. The reservation is located at least 100 miles (160 kilometers) from Marquette. No additional evaluation is required.

The EPA New Source Review Workbook states that generally a NAAQS and PSD analysis would be required if emissions from a source increases pollutant concentrations by 1 ug/m3 or more (24hr avg) in a Class I area. The closest Class I area to the facility is the Seney National Wildlife Refuge located approximately 55 miles to the ESE. Modeling indicated that the maximum increase the 24-hr average SO₂ concentration from the facility at Seney would only be 0.42 ug/m3.

D.3 Comment

The PSD increment inventory was deficient. The application states that only the proposed CFB boiler proposed for the Ripley Plant and the existing boilers at the Ripley plant consume increment. The We Energies Presque Isle Power Plant (PIPP) was modified after the SO₂ major source baseline date. However, it is not included in the baseline and is "increment consuming". The modeling must be revised to account for the PIPP's status as a modified increment consuming source.

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 14 of 32 May 12, 2008

AQD Response

The SO_2 major source baseline date was set by the Clean Air Act to be January 6, 1975. Emissions associated with modification at a major stationary source consume increment after this date. A comparison was made between the reported SO_2 emissions from PIPP for 1973 and 2006 which were found to be 15,274 tpy and 16,609 tpy respectively. This increase of 1335 tpy should not be part of the baseline and should be considered in the PSD increment analysis. New modeling was conducted by the AQD which added the 1335 tpy to the increment analysis and the results indicated that this change had no effect on either the 3-hr or 24-hr PSD maximum (100%) SO_2 PSD increment levels. However, the addition of the 1335 tpy did cause the annual PSD increment concentration to increase to approximately 10 percent which is still well below the State's 80% allowable Class II PSD increment criterion.

D.4 Comment

Emissions from fuel handling, cooling towers, diesel generator, silos, limestone crushing, ash handling, and fugitive road dust were not included in the modeling. The permit is defective.

AQD Response

The permit requires that these emissions be controlled. The modeling shows that they will be insignificant, and the permit would not change if they were included in the modeling.

The coal and wood will be unloaded directly from the delivery trucks into 3-sided
enclosures to minimize fugitive emissions. Transfer from the silos to the boiler will be
done in enclosed conveyance systems. Dust from coal or wood transfer points will be
controlled with fabric filters. Once the coal and wood is received, it will be stored in
dedicated silos, and each silo will be controlled with a vent filter.
A quantitative analysis for impacts of fogging and icing from the proposed 7 MW
cooling tower was performed using the Seasonal/Annual Cooling Tower Impact
(SACTI) model. The analysis confirmed that excessive impairment to the
surrounding community as a result of fogging and icing is not expected.
The commenter appears to think this permit is one where a diesel generator is part of
the project. That is not the case here.
The permit is for a 10 MW facility. Work practice standards such as the enclosed
conveyors and storage silos with vent filters are the appropriate level of BACT based
on the review for this case. Where a control standard is specified as BACT for
material handling it is these same controls (vent filters).
The commenter appears to think this permit is one where limestone crushing is part
of the project. It is not. Limestone will be received via trucks and pneumatically
transferred to a silo with a vent filter. Limestone will then be removed from the silo on
an as-needed basis for co-firing into the bed of the CFB boiler.
Ash removed from the CFB will be stored in a dedicated silo with vent filter. Ash will
be loaded out of the ash silo periodically, and placed in covered trucks for final
disposal off-site of the NMU campus.
NMU will be receiving solid fuels for the new boiler via 40 ton trucks, delivered
approximately once per day during the week, using established transportation routes
currently used by logging trucks. The conclusion is that truck traffic will not increase
significantly

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 15 of 32 May 12, 2008

D.5 Comment

Unless the permit includes hourly mass emission limits, hourly emission rates can not be used in the modeling. The maximum hourly heat input rate is not included in the permit as an enforceable limit.

AQD Response

The maximum hourly heat input rate and the hourly emissions are limited by the size of the equipment. A permit limit is not required.

D.6 Comment

NMU did not conduct the required preconstruction monitoring.

AQD Response

AQD's experience with monitoring in the Upper Peninsula shows consistent background levels across a large geographical area including the location of this facility. Therefore, AQD did not require pre-construction monitoring. No written waiver was requested by the permit applicant, and none was issued by AQD.

E. <u>Best Available Control Technology</u> (BACT) Review

E.1 Comment

Who determines the best available control technology (BACT)?

AQD Response

The BACT requirements are outlined in the federal PSD regulations, 40 CFR 52.21. The Michigan Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ) is the permitting authority and is responsible for evaluating the BACT analysis. U. S. EPA has delegated to the MDEQ the authority to issue air use permits that comply with the federal PSD regulations.

There are also BACT requirements in Michigan's Air Pollution Control Rules, R 336.1224 and R 336.1702. The MDEQ ensures that the state BACT requirements are met.

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 16 of 32 May 12, 2008

E.2 Comment

It has been determined that state-of-the-art combustion techniques and proper and efficient combustion practices represent BACT for toxic air contaminants. Explain in full what this means.

AQD Response

Carbon monoxide, volatile organic compounds, and toxic air contaminants are a product of incomplete combustion of carbon and organic compounds. Factors which impact the combustion process include firing temperatures, residence time in the combustion chamber and fuel and air mixing characteristics. State-of-the-art combustion techniques and proper and efficient combustion practices involve optimal combustion temperatures and the fine-tuning of oxygen and fuel content in the combustion zone in order to minimize the emissions. These combustion techniques have been considered BACT for air toxic pollutants on many similar projects.

E.3 Comment

The AQD has stated that the applicant can eliminate a control alternative by demonstrating to the satisfaction of the AQD that the equipment cannot be realistically installed and operated, and that energy, environmental or economic impacts are unfavorable. What criteria are used?

AQD Response

The federal PSD regulations require that Best Available Control Technology (BACT) be applied for each pollutant subject to the regulations. BACT is an emission limit based on the maximum degree of reduction for a pollutant and is determined on a case-by-case basis. The PSD regulations specifically allow for a control option to be eliminated based upon unfavorable energy, environmental, and/or economic impacts. The economic impact portion of the BACT analysis involves evaluating the cost to control the pollutant at a facility as compared with the cost to control the same pollutant at similar facilities. The cost of control contains any cost associated with energy or environmental impacts. The company's economic health, however, is not factored into the BACT decision. It is important to note that the BACT limit cannot result in an exceedance of a health standard or any state or federal regulation. Although the BACT analysis must include an economic review, there is no cost associated with determining whether or not the emissions meet the health based standards.

E.4 Comment

The New Source Review Workshop Manual (Draft, Oct. 1990) states that emission limits must be short term. The 24-hour average and longer limits in the permit do not meet the requirements of BACT.

AQD Response

The reference to short term emissions in EPA's New Source Review Workshop Manual refers to limiting emissions from a source so that it is not subject to the federal PSD program. EPA has also stated that an annual limit is considered short term if it is averaged on a monthly basis; see "EPA Guidance on Federally Enforceable Requirements" June 13, 1989. The facility is subject to

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 17 of 32 May 12, 2008

the PSD regulations and therefore must meet BACT. BACT limits, according to EPA's New Source Review Workshop Manual, must contain appropriate averaging times that are consistent with established reference methods. For a source such as this with emissions that are well below the national ambient air quality standards (NAAQS), a 24-hour average (determined each hour) is considered acceptable.

E.5 Comment

The draft permit does not contain sufficient BACT limits.

AQD Response

BACT is not a mandatory lowest possible limit (maximum degree of reduction). The commenter's claim that the BACT limits are not sufficient is based on the inaccurate assumption that the lowest possible emission rate achieved anywhere is BACT.

The commenter begins by quoting that BACT is "based on the maximum degree of reduction." This is correct. The commenter continues with a statement about a "statutory requirement that BACT represent the maximum achievable reduction" and from there to a statement that BACT must "ensure the maximum degree of reduction." [Italics added.] The commenter further states that "A BACT analysis should always default to the best pollution control option available." [Italics added.] That claim is incorrect.

BACT is a site-specific determination resulting in the selection of an emission limitation that represents application of control technology or methods appropriate for the particular facility. BACT is determined on a case-by-case basis and includes an evaluation of the feasibility and cost of any control alternative under consideration.

The second step of a BACT analysis is to eliminate "technically infeasible" options from the potentially available options identified at step 1. NSR Manual at B.7. This second step involves first determining for each technology whether it is "demonstrated," which means that it has been installed and operated successfully elsewhere on a similar facility, and if not demonstrated, then determining whether it is both "available" and "applicable." Technologies identified in step 1 as "potentially" available, but that are neither demonstrated nor found after careful review to be both available and applicable, are eliminated under step 2 from further analysis.

The commenter's claim of insufficiency appears to be based on a very limited interpretation of the definition of BACT and ignores the factors, including energy, environmental, and economic considerations which are considered and evaluated in a BACT analysis. The BACT limits are appropriate for this facility, the proposed equipment, and the site at which installation is planned.

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 18 of 32 May 12, 2008

E.6 Comment

The MDEQ failed to conduct a BACT analysis for PM-2.5. This is unlawful and must be corrected before a PSD permit can issue. Moreover, there is no legal basis for ignoring the requirement to implement BACT for PM-2.5. PM-2.5 emissions are more aggressively controlled by controlling the pollutant's precursors. It is therefore necessary to target PM-2.5 specifically in a BACT analysis in order to require the greatest feasible reductions in PM-2.5 emissions.

AQD Response

In the October 23, 1997 memorandum the commenter refers to, "EPA believes that it is administratively impracticable at this time to require sources and State permitting authorities to attempt to implement PSD permitting for PM2.5." To date, no measurable standard exists to limit PM-2.5. As the commenter stated, the EPA guidance is for the interim use of PM-10 as a surrogate for PM-2.5. One reason for this is that an approved method exists for measuring PM-10 emissions. Quoting the same memorandum, "EPA believes that sources should continue to meet PSD and NSR program requirements for controlling PM10 emissions . . . and for analyzing impacts on PM10 air quality. Meeting these measures in the interim will serve as a surrogate approach for reducing PM2.5 emissions and protecting air quality."

A search of the EPA RBLC (RACT, BACT, LAER Clearinghouse) database shows 12 facilities and 14 processes for which a PM-2.5 limit has been proposed or included in a permit. For seven of the processes, PM-10 and PM-2.5 are both listed with identical emission limits. The processes include diesel electric generators, gas-fueled electric generation, metallurgy processes, chemical processes, a cement process and slag processing. Of these, ten have no controls listed as BACT. One, the slag process, uses a water spray. Three have add-on control equipment that are either a baghouse (for two metallurgy furnaces) based on the Lowest Achievable Emission Rate (a more stringent standard than BACT) or a bag filter (on a chemical process) based on a case-by case evaluation other than federal regulations. The particulate matter control equipment required for the circulating fluidized bed boiler at Northern Michigan University is a fabric filter (baghouse) system. Per the RBLC, fabric filters are the method installed for control of PM-2.5 from two metallurgy furnaces based on LAER, a more stringent standard then BACT, yet the commenter states that fabric filters are "not necessarily" effective for PM-2.5 control.

The commenter also proposed "controlling the pollutant's precursors" (of PM-2.5). Precursor emissions are also addressed in the October 23, 1997 memorandum as a parameter to be included in a comprehensive modeling system. At this time, that goal is not achievable. The lack of available data on PM-2.5 emission rates creates technical difficulties in evaluating the potential effectiveness of controlling the precursors of PM-2.5.

E.7 Comment

The permit lacks BACT limits for CO_2 and N_2O .

Note: Greenhouse gas emissions are also addressed in responses to Comments A.4 and K.2.

AQD Response

The MDEQ is required to review and consider the applications for permits in accordance with applicable existing state and federal law. There is no applicable emission standard of

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 19 of 32 May 12, 2008

performance under the Clean Air Act for carbon dioxide or nitrous oxide emissions from electric generating units. Similarly, there are no state rules requiring limits on carbon dioxide or nitrous oxide emissions from electric generating units. The DEQ cannot suspend the processing of permits until such standards are promulgated.

E.8 Comment

The BACT determinations for the boiler did not include a sufficient analysis of cleaner production processes, including wood fuel. Merely stating a generalized concern about increased costs, fuel availability, or economics as NMU has done here, is not enough to justify rejecting a method of reducing emissions. BACT limits must be based on waste wood, not coal.

AQD Response

Northern Michigan University planned for fuel flexibility at the proposed solid fuel fired circulating fluidized bed boiler to assure continued operation during severe winter weather. At any time during the winter or into spring, heavy snows can severely limit the ability to travel. In the first week of April in both 2007 and 2008, snowfalls measured in feet of snow occurred, severely limiting travel. Similar conditions occur on a regular basis throughout the winter and weather events affecting the availability of fuel are a fact of life in the Upper Peninsula of Michigan. It is forseeable that fuel suppliers will not have access to the available wood supply or the means to transport wood fuel to the Ripley plant site for an extended period of time. The site is relatively small, with solid fuel storage capacity equivalent to about three days of operation. To keep the heat and power boiler operating, a fuel use plan that allows the use of a choice of available fuel is necessary, including coal from the nearby power plants. A different plan would redefine the source as proposed by Northern Michigan University. The BACT limits are correctly based on expected emissions from the use of coal as a fuel.

E.9 Comment

There is no analysis of natural gas as a clean fuel option

AQD Response

The basic design of the facility under review is that of a solid fuel boiler with the basic purpose to generate heat and electricity. Northern Michigan University applied for a permit to burn wood, a renewable resource, with coal as an alternative fuel. The use of these available fuels in the proposed power plant allows natural gas to be available and affordable for heating homes, businesses, and industrial facilities. The Environmental Appeals Board's prior decisions support the principle that a permitting authority should consider BACT for the project for which an application has been submitted and not redefine the source.

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 20 of 32 May 12, 2008

E.10 Comment

BACT must be established based on low sulfur coal.

AQD Response

BACT is established based on the characteristics of the coal to be trucked to the NMU facility from the two existing local power plants. Coal is intended to be used as the secondary fuel source, with wood as the primary fuel. The limit of 1.5% sulfur leaves a reasonable margin of compliance as the coal used at the Presque Isle Power Plant (one of the two local stockpiles from which coal would be obtained) may, by permit, contain up to 1.5% sulfur, but actually has not exceeded 1.4% sulfur as noted by the commenter. Northern Michigan University proposes to install storage silos for both wood and coal with a storage capacity sufficient for three days operation of the boiler. There is no space available at the site for a stockpile of fuel separate from that used at the local power plants.

E.11 Comment

The coal-based BACT determination for sulfur dioxide is inadequate. For example, the Roquette, America, Inc. CFB boiler in Iowa uses both limestone injection in the CFB boiler and a post-combustion scrubber.

AQD Response

The boiler cited as an example by the commenter is not comparable to that proposed by Northern Michigan University for at least two reasons. First, the Roquette corn dryer boiler is about five times as large as the NMU boiler (996 MMBtu/hr heat input vs 185 or 205 MMBtu/hr heat input (depending on the fuel). Also, the Roquette boiler is allowed to burn coal with a sulfur content of up to 6 per cent by weight vs. the 1.5 per cent limit for the NMU boiler. This results in allowable emissions of 392.6 tons per year of sulfur dioxide in lowa, with a post-combustion scrubber versus a limit of 125 tons in Michigan without a post-combustion scrubber. The cost of the additional control equipment is justified in lowa example to control significantly higher potential emissions of sulfur dioxide generated by both the larger size boiler and the higher emission rate from the high sulfur coal.

E.12 Comment

The BACT analysis failed to consider a circulating dry scrubber. The commenter cites several power plants as examples where a circulating dry scrubber is BACT. A wet scrubber is the top ranked pollution control option for sulfur dioxide if coal fuel is assumed. The commenter cites several power plants as examples where this technology is installed to meet BACT limits.

AQD Response

AQD completed a thorough BACT review which included an evaluation of facilities of a similar size and design to the 10 MW coal and wood fired CFB boiler with limestone injection proposed by Northern Michigan University. The commenter lists approximately 20 facilities where a circulating dry scrubber or a wet scrubber has been installed as add-on control equipment. The facilities cited by the commenter range from 11 to 75 times as large as the proposed plant (110 MW to 750 MW).

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 21 of 32 May 12, 2008

It is not appropriate to compare the larger facilities where the cost of control is justified by the higher emission rate to the smaller NMU facility.

USEPA routinely establishes both a percent reduction standard and a maximum outlet concentration or mass emission standard for emission control in New Source Performance Standards. This approach acknowledges that standard of control of a large source of air pollution (percent removal standard) is different from control of a more dilute source of emissions where the total (mass) emissions are small.

Further, for the large sources cited, the commenter lists partial information, always including control efficiency while neglecting the mass emission rate. Fuel sulfur content which was higher than the NMU limit at many of the examples was also left out of the discussion. The commenter did mention the fuel sulfur content at one facility of the 20 that proposed burning coal with a lower sulfur content (0.45%) than that proposed at Northern Michigan University.

One example cited by the commenter was for a retrofit of cyclone-fired boilers installed in 1959 and 1962 burning a mix of 85 percent coal and 15 per cent petroleum coke with a design value of 7 per cent sulfur for the coke. The retrofit was part of a statewide emission reduction plan implemented by the utility company to bring all of the company's existing generating facilities into compliance with new federal regulations. This is not comparable to the proposed NMU facility.

Another facility described as burning "low sulfur coal" is praised for achieving 98% sulfur dioxide control. The allowed annual emissions are 2,254 tons which contrasts greatly with the limit of 125 tons per year in the NMU permit with 92 percent control. Also, the "low sulfur coal" was 1 percent sulfur, the same as one of the two supply alternatives for NMU.

The BACT limits of 0.20 lb/MMBtu on a 24 hour average and 0.15 lb/MMBtu on a 30 day average are appropriate.

E.13 Comment

The BACT limits should be expressed by energy output to take into account the efficiency of the generating process.

AQD Response

Emission limits in terms of energy output in order to account for energy efficiencies of the generating source are being considered as federal regulations are amended. In the February 28, 2005 proposed rule amendments to the NSPS Subpart Db. EPA specifically requested comment on the question of whether emission limits, if EPA decides to adopt an emission limit format, should be expressed in an input-based or output-based format. As background for this proposal, EPA referenced the 1998 NSPS amendments, where it was concluded that an output-based format provided only limited opportunity for promoting energy efficiency at subpart Db, 40 CFR Part 60, units. In addition, EPA concluded that an output-based format could impose additional hardware and software costs because instrumentation to measure energy output generally did not exist at industrial-commercial-institutional facilities. For industrial-commercial-institutional units that generate electricity, EPA considered an optional output-based emission limit in units of pounds of pollutant per MWh of gross energy output. Ideally, the output-based emission limit would be based on emissions data and energy output data that were measured simultaneously. However, output-based emission data are not readily available for industrial steam generating units. Most emission test data today are reported based on energy input, consistent with current State and Federal compliance reporting requirements. In the absence of measured output-based

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 22 of 32 May 12, 2008

data, EPA was seeking comment on the issue of whether to require output based limits in Db noting that if they did such a limit would be developed using input-based emissions data and a baseline energy generating efficiency. Based upon comments received during the public comment period, the final rule dated June 13, 2007, did not require output based emission limits for Db subject sources.

As to the need for a BACT emission limit in terms of energy output, there is no requirement in the BACT process to limit emissions in this manner. The permit applicant initiates the process and, in doing so defines the proposed facility's end, object, aim, or purpose – that is the facility's basic design, which is reflected in the permit applicant's schematic design for the proposed facility. To define the BACT emission limit in terms of the efficiency of the proposed process would limit the BACT evaluation to that single factor. BACT is a site-specific determination resulting in the selection of an emission limitation that represents application of control technology or methods appropriate for the particular facility. BACT is determined on a case-by-case basis and includes an evaluation of the feasibility and cost of any control alternative under consideration.

E.14 Comment

The NOx BACT limit is not based on the maximum degree of reduction from the top ranked control option. Selective catalytic reduction achieves a removal efficiency of 90%. Examples are listed. NMU has not demonstrated that an SCR is not cost effective.

AQD Response

As with the analysis of the sulfur dioxide BACT limit by this commenter, the comment on the BACT limit for oxides of nitrogen does not take into account the size of the facility. The NMU heat and power plant is 10 MW and the examples cited are for a 750 MW and a 500 MW facility. AQD concurs with the evaluation by NMU that SCR is not cost effective for this facility. The NOx limit of 0.10 lb/MMBtu is appropriate.

E.15 Comment

The draft permit does not contain any BACT conditions for material handling. Four facilities are listed as examples. Work practice standards cannot be substituted.

AQD Response

AQD disagrees with the commenter. The four examples cited are 1230 MW, 790 MW, 500 MW, and 660 MW facilities. The permit is for a 10 MW facility. Work practice standards such as the enclosed conveyors and storage silos with vent filters are BACT based on the review for this case.

Where a control standard is specified as BACT for material handling it is these same controls (vent filters). The annual maximum fuel delivery to NMU for each fuel, if it were to be used exclusively, is estimated to be less than 70,000 tons of bituminous coal, less than 100,000 tons of Powder River Basin coal, or less than 200,000 tons of wood. Facilities exist with throughput rates 5 to 10 times higher than these or greater, where storage is in a pile (not a silo), delivery is by rail cars, not individual trucks. BACT at such large facilities consists of work practice standards to minimize drop heights and use dust suppression and that is an approved BACT standard. For the smaller solid fuel throughput rates at the proposed Northern Michigan University facility, MDEQ has

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 23 of 32 May 12, 2008

determined BACT to include the work practice standards listed in detail in the response to Comment D. 4 in this Response to Comments document.

F. Permit Requirements, General

F.1 Comment

An application for a PSD permit must include a description of the nature, location, and typical operating schedule. These items are not defined.

AQD Response

The facility is defined as a combined heat and power plant. The location can be found on maps included in the application and the hours used in modeling are the maximum operating hours, 24 hours per day 365 days per year.

F.2 Comment

What wood will be used? What is "wood waste"?

AQD Response

The draft permit includes this condition:

Material Usage Limits

1.2 The permittee shall not process or combust any fuel in EU-CFB-BOILER other than bituminous and subbituminous coals, wood as defined in 40 C.F.R. 60.41b, and natural gas. (R 336.1224, R 336.1225, R 336.1401, R 336.1901)

40 C.F.R. 60.41b defines "wood" as follows:

Wood means wood, wood residue, bark, or any derivative fuel or residue thereof, in any form, including, but not limited to, sawdust, sanderdust, wood chips, scraps, slabs, millings, shavings, and processed pellets made from wood or other forest residues.

For additional clarification concerning the possible sources of the wood, the following definition is from the U.S. Department of Energy, Energy Information Administration:

"Wood is a substantial renewable resource that can be used as a fuel to generate electric power and useful thermal output. Wood for use as fuel comes from a wide variety of sources. The Nation's forestland (or timberland) is the primary, and in most cases original, resource base for fuelwood. Wood for fuel use is also derived from private land clearing and silvi-culture and from urban tree and landscape residues. A third major wood resource is waste wood, which includes manufacturing and wood processing wastes, as well as construction and demolition debris."

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 24 of 32 May 12, 2008

F.3 Comment

Coal should be limited more than it is in the permit

AQD Response

NMU has clearly expressed an intent to use wood waste as the primary fuel source. The limit on coal usage is both a compromise from the original permit application which requested the flexibility to use either wood or coal 100 per cent of the time and a contingency plan to prevent interruption of an adequate fuel supply. The coal usage limits result from calculations based on the BACT emission limits for sulfur dioxide. Part of the basis used in the BACT review is to allow for fuel flexibility based on both the limited three day fuel storage capacity available at the site and the likelihood of severe winter weather events which could interrupt any of the fuel supplies. If only coal can be obtained, the permit is written to allow for continued operation of the facility without penalty, but the highest sulfur coal can only be used for part of any 30-day period.

G. Permit Requirements, Emissions

G.1 Comment

The draft permit unlawfully excludes periods of startup and shutdown. Uncontrolled emissions must be used to model air impacts. The permit grants a free pass from all emissions during these periods.

AQD Response

The commenter cites Special Condition 1.7 of the draft permit as the basis for this comment and proceeds to make the claim that the permit is unlawful. AQD disagrees with this interpretation of the permit.

There are no startup, shutdown, or malfunction exceptions listed in the table of emission limits, SC 1.1a through SC 1.1k.

The permit lists four operating parameters in this context. The relevant permit conditions, 1.6 and 1.7, are as follows:

- 1.6 The permittee shall operate and maintain EU-CFB-BOILER, including air pollution control equipment and monitoring equipment in a manner consistent with good air pollution control practices for minimizing emissions. Operating limits shall be established during the initial performance test for EU-CFB-BOILER and shall include:
 - a. maximum fuel use rate
 - b. minimum exhaust gas flow rate
 - c. minimum fabric filter pressure drop
 - d. selective non-catalytic reduction system ammonia or urea solution concentration and injection rate, and the gas temperature range at the injection location

(R 336.1205, R 336.2802)

1.7 Following the date on which the initial performance test for EU-CFB-BOILER is completed the permittee shall not operate above any of the applicable maximum operating limits or below any of the applicable minimum

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 25 of 32 May 12, 2008

operating limits listed in SC 1.6 at all times except during periods of startup, shutdown and malfunction. Operating limits do not apply during performance tests. Operation above the established maximum or below the established minimum operating limits shall constitute a deviation of established operating limits. (R 336.1205, R 336.2802)

Also, in addition to the fact that the CFB boiler will be operated with emissions monitoring equipment (COMS and/or CEMS for SO2, NOx, gas flow rate and CO2 or O2), uncontrolled emissions may not continue for more than two hours without violating General Condition No. 7 of the permit. The AQD follows up on the required report with mandatory corrective actions to prevent a recurrence of the excess emissions.

7. The permittee shall provide notice of an abnormal condition, start-up, shutdown, or malfunction that results in emissions of a hazardous or toxic air pollutant which continue for more than one hour in excess of any applicable standard or limitation, or emissions of any air contaminant continuing for more than two hours in excess of an applicable standard or limitation, as required in Rule 912, to the Department. The notice shall be provided not later than two business days after start-up, shutdown, or discovery of the abnormal condition or malfunction. Written reports, if required, must be filed with the Department within 10 days after the start-up or shutdown occurred, within 10 days after the abnormal conditions or malfunction has been corrected, or within 30 days of discovery of the abnormal condition or malfunction, whichever is first. The written reports shall include all of the information required in Rule 912(5). (R 336.1912)

Finally, a detailed startup, shutdown, and malfunction plan is required in SC 1.5 of the permit.

1.5 The permittee shall develop, and submit to the AQD for review and approval, a written startup, shutdown and malfunction plan (SSMP). This SSMP must describe in detail, procedures for operating and maintaining EU-CFB-BOILER during periods of startup, shutdown, and malfunction, and include a program of corrective action for malfunctioning process equipment and associated air pollution control and monitoring equipment. The permittee shall operate EU-CFB-BOILER according to the provisions of the SSMP during periods of startup, shutdown, or malfunction. (R 336,1911)

The annual limits include all operating scenarios. Therefore, startup and shutdown emissions must be included in the tons per year calculations.

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 26 of 32 May 12, 2008

H. <u>Permit Requirements, Monitoring</u>

H.1 Comment

Because the emission limits are BACT, the Continuous Assurance Monitoring Rule is applicable.

AQD Response

The Compliance Assurance Monitoring rule is applicable on a pollutant-specific basis to emission units at facilities subject to the Renewable Operating Permit (ROP) requirements. This facility is not required to comply with the rule as it does not currently meet the definition of a major source subject to an ROP. Also, emission units subject to certain federal emission limitations or standards proposed after November 15, 1990 are exempt from the Compliance Assurance Monitoring rule. The CFB boiler is subject to the amended new source performance standard, 40 CFR Part 60 Subpart Db which has an effective date of February 27, 2006.

I. Permit Requirements, Process/Operational Limits

1.1 Comment

NSPS Subpart Y for Coal Preparation Plants is applicable to this facility.

AQD Response

The smallest facility where enforcement of NSPS Subpart Y would be required is one which processes 200 tons of coal per day. The NMU facility is not expected to process that much coal. The applicable regulation (40 CFR 60.252(c)) sets the standard for particulate matter emitted from coal processing and conveying equipment, a coal storage system, or a coal transfer and loading system. The standard is that the discharged gases may not exhibit 20 percent opacity or greater. This same opacity standard applies to all sources of air emissions in Michigan per state regulations, regardless of size, so in this case, the state regulation applies even though the amount of coal processed is less than the NSPS applicability threshold of 200 tons per day.

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 27 of 32 May 12, 2008

1.2 Comment

The startup shutdown malfunction plan must be incorporated into the permit and subject to public notice and comment. Post-permit plan development and approval is unlawful. The plan must be a part of the permit which is presented for comment. A condition allows changes in the malfunction abatement plan (MAP) with the approval of the district supervisor. This allows the DEQ to make important changes to the permit without informing the public.

AQD Response

Changes in the MAP allow for flexibility and quick response to modifications in the operation of the plant which do not meet the definition of modification and therefore do not require a permit.

The plan must remain flexible in order for AQD to require appropriate immediate changes when necessary without the need for another 30-day comment period. The requirement for the plan is a permit condition which assures that the plan provisions will be enforceable.

1.3 Comment

There should be control of fugitive dust from truck trackout.

AQD Response

A small number of trucks will make deliveries to the site and the site itself is very small. Based on previous experience, AQD is not requiring a specific fugitive dust control plan for this facility at this time. However, the permittee is required to minimize fugitive dust emissions in material handling operations in Special Condition 3.1 of the permit for wood and coal unloading, 5.1 for limestone, and 6.1 for ash handling. As a contingency, AQD reserves the right in Special Condition 9.1 to require a fugitive dust control plan without reopening the permit.

9.1 Upon written notification by the Air Quality Division, the permittee shall develop, implement, and operate a program for the control of fugitive emissions from the facility in accordance with the requirements of R336.1371 and R336.1372.

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 28 of 32 May 12, 2008

J. Permit Review Process

J.1 Comment

Does the AQD's permit review process evaluate protecting the public health?

AQD Response

The AQD's permit review does include a review of the potential impact of the emissions on public health. Specifically, staff reviews the site of the facility to verify the number of surrounding residences and public institutions such as schools or churches and their distance to the proposed site. The facility operation is studied to determine how the process works, what raw materials are used in the process, and what air pollutants are emitted. The applicable federal, state and local regulations are identified along with what air pollution control equipment is required for the facility to comply with these requirements. Using computer air quality dispersion modeling, the maximum ambient air quality concentrations are determined outside the facility's fence-line, based on the proposed emissions and local meteorological data. For mercury, an assessment of the potential deposition impacts to levels in fish and anglers' exposures was also performed. If the results of the analysis show that all applicable state and federal regulations will be met, permit conditions are written, which would ensure that the proposed facility design and operation meet all legal requirements, that the permit conditions are enforceable and that sufficient monitoring, recordkeeping and reporting would be performed to determine compliance with these draft permit conditions. These measures ensure the protection of public health.

K. <u>Miscellaneous</u>

K.1 Comment

With changes in regulations on pollutants like carbon dioxide expected in the near future, why don't we just postpone the permit process until we have all the latest information available from the federal government?

AQD Response

Each permit is subject to the laws that are in place at the time of the permit review and issuance. Legally, the DEQ cannot postpone a permit so that the facility is subject to new regulations. Planning, design, and construction of new electricity generating facilities requires years to complete. NMU has identified a need for additional heat and power capacity and has selected the proposed facility as the means of adding the capacity. The plan was approved by the University Board of Trustees in October, 2006.

AQD cannot delay a decision on this permit application based on the potential for future regulations. The decision must be based on the present standards.

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 29 of 32 May 12, 2008

<.2	Global Warming/Renewable Energy Comments
Vote:	Greenhouse gas emissions are also addressed in responses to Comments A.4 and E.7.
	Coal is the largest source of greenhouse gases
[_]	There should be limits on CO2 emissions
	Renewable energy is the right way coal is the wrong way
[]	Future costs of renewables are stable and future costs for fossil fuels will increase
11	The costs of future regulation of carbon and CO2 should be considered. There are no greenhouse gas emissions from wind or solar power or renewable energy
	Energy conservation should be considered as an alternative to building more generating capacity.
	The state and the university should exhibit environmental stewardship and leadership by making the responsible choice of clean energy for our economic future and encourage new technology for a safer, cleaner environment.

AQD Response

The state of Michigan is concerned about global warming and recognizes the arguments in favor of renewable energy and new technology. Governor Granholm actively promotes action to achieve these goals when meeting with business people, lawmakers, and citizens of the state.

With respect to wind and solar power, the CFB boiler is intended to be operated at full capacity. A wind power plant would be far less reliable due to variations in wind speed and even the very presence of wind. Electricity generation using solar power is impractical as a daily process in a northern climate and has not been demonstrated as feasible for the combination of the small parcel of land available at Northern Michigan University and the proposed plant capacity.

The MDEQ is required to review and consider the applications for permits in accordance with applicable existing state and federal law. There are no federal or state rules requiring limits on carbon dioxide emissions from electric generating units, and the DEQ cannot suspend the processing of permits until such rules are promulgated. Although carbon dioxide is an air contaminant, under Michigan's rules carbon dioxide has been specifically excluded from the definition of a toxic air contaminant since the first adoption of the definition on April 17, 1992 [Rule 336.1120(f)(xi)].

The facility will emit carbon dioxide, a greenhouse gas. There are presently no regulations limiting emissions of carbon dioxide. However, the MDEQ and Governor Granholm share your concern about climate change and its potential negative impacts on the state of Michigan. Executive Directive No. 2006-2 was designed to help Michigan develop an alternative energy industry. It directs the creation of the 21st Century Energy Plan. The Plan recommends that Michigan's future energy needs be met through a combination of renewable resources and the cleanest generating technology, with significant energy savings achieved by increased energy efficiency. The Plan recommends that all retail electric energy suppliers be required to obtain at least 10 percent of their energy supplies from renewable resources by 2015. A renewable portfolio standard provides protection from volatile electric energy markets, and provides protection from costs associated with expected federal taxes on greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions.

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 30 of 32 May 12, 2008

According to the press release for the 21st Century Energy Plan,

Michigan's load growth is expected to grow an average of 1.2 percent per year over the next 20 years. Recognizing that the average age of Michigan's power plants is 48 years, and that no Michigan utilities have undertaken baseload construction in almost 20 years, it is important that a new baseload plant can be built and financed while protecting customers from unnecessary costs. Modeling shows a need for a new baseload power plant no later than 2015, and since build time on a baseload plant is at least six years, the state should take action now.

Building upon these Executive Directives and to more fully realize its leadership role in the area of climate change, Governor Granholm has created a Michigan Climate Action Council (MCAC) to develop a comprehensive climate action plan for the state. The plan will provide recommendations for reducing GHG emissions in Michigan and will build upon previous measures to reduce the state's reliance on energy sources from outside its borders. The MCAC will prepare its preliminary recommendations and goals by April 30, 2008, with final recommendations and goals to follow by December 31, 2008. The state of Michigan will implement this climate action plan in a coordinated and broad-based manner. Additional information on the MCAC can be found at www.miclimatechange.us.

On November 15, 2007, Governor Granholm joined nine other Midwestern leaders in signing the Midwestern Greenhouse Gas Accord. This Accord will serve as a regional strategy to achieve energy security and reduce GHG emissions. The Accord will also establish GHG reduction targets and time frames, develop a market-based and multi-sector cap-and-trade mechanism to help achieve those reduction targets, establish a reduction tracking, management, and crediting system, and develop and implement additional steps as needed to achieve the reduction targets.

K.3 Comment

A decision on the permit should be delayed until the people have a chance to accept or reject the location of the plant. Comments were received on the location of the plant near residential properties.

AQD Response

The location of any facility is an issue addressed by local government through the planning and zoning processes. The Air Quality Division does not control the selection of sites for industrial facilities nor does it have jurisdiction over local zoning issues. Site selection is done by the permit applicant. The issuance of a Permit to Install by the AQD does not guarantee local site approval. A site assessment is conducted by Air Quality Division staff as a part of the permit review process and air pollution impacts are reviewed.

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 31 of 32 May 12, 2008

K.4 Comment

Comments were received regarding evaluation of secondary environmental impacts due to coal mining in other states, limestone mining, forestry practices, and potential damage to endangered plants when or if fuel wood is harvested for use in the plant.

Note: Secondary impacts are also addressed in responses to Comments A.2 and D.2.

AQD Response

The AQD only has jurisdiction over air quality issues. The Office of Geological Survey and Land and Water Management and Water Divisions of the Department of Environmental Quality may also regulate this facility. The Permit requires the facility to obtain all necessary approvals from these Divisions and any other units of government as required by law.

K.5 Comment

Is the electricity generating plant warranted for this area? Over 500 MW of generating capacity already exists so this plant is not needed.

AQD Response

The AQD does not have authority to determine whether or not a type of industry is warranted for a specific area. The air permitting process involves a thorough review of the proposal and its impacts on the environment including whether or not the emissions will comply with state and federal health standards. Emissions from the plant will meet the NAAQS and the AQD health-based screening levels.

K.6 Comment

What is the state doing to increase conservation to reduce our need for additional electricity generation?

AQD Response

Neither the Department's Rules for Air Pollution Control nor the Clean Air Act deal with conservation of energy issues. The laws are incorporated to ensure that economic growth will not contribute to a significant increase in air pollution. The AQD has determined that the impacts from the facility will not contribute to a significant increase in air contaminants.

K.7 Comment

The DEQ is very comfortable in being able to hide behind rules which are very accommodating to industry.

AQD Response

The AQD disagrees. Michigan was one of the first states in the United States for developing rules for regulating air toxics. The rules promulgated by Michigan have been used as a model by other states in regulating air toxics. When state rules are developed, they are usually developed in a collaborative process between the regulators, environmentalists, affected industry, academia, and

Northern Michigan University – Ripley Heating Plant Response to Comments Document Page 32 of 32 May 12, 2008

other interested parties. The rules are promulgated according to the administrative procedures act. If a person feels that state regulations are too permissive, that person or persons has an obligation to participate in the regulatory process and propose the necessary changes which address their concerns or participate directly in the rules development process.

The AQD has very little discretion in how air use permitting is performed since we are required to follow all applicable state and federal regulations. Additionally, any state's regulations can be no less stringent than federal regulations. The Air Quality Division must have a regulatory basis (either a state rule or a federal regulation) for developing the conditions of a permit.

IV. SUMMARY OF COMMENTS RECEIVED IN SUPPORT

The following is a list of the benefits cited in the verbal testimony and five letters received:

The new combined heat and power plant can be used as a research facility for student education in the use of renewable energy from wood.
The project will create 100 new jobs in the forest industry.
Construction jobs will be created by the project.
The project will create a new market for wood products.
Michigan regulations are sufficient to control the emissions and no health hazard will result

Prepared by: David K. Riddle, Senior Environmental Engineer

from the project.